
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 2, 2022 

6:30 P.M.  

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL – DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

4. APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 3, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

5. PUBLIC HEARING  

 

APPLICANT:  Phantom Fireworks – Richard Tapper 

LOCATION: 2243 Ellsworth Rd, Ypsilanti MI 48198  

PARCEL: K-11-18-100-003 

REQUEST: To consider the request for a temporary use permit to allow for the storage, display, 
and sale of State of Michigan approved fireworks within the existing Roundtree Shopping Center.  

 

APPLICANT:  Phantom Fireworks – Richard Tapper  

LOCATION:  3020 Washtenaw Ave, Ypsilanti, MI 48198  

PARCEL:  K-11-06-325-031 

REQUEST: To consider the request for a temporary use permit to allow for the storage, display, 
and sale of State of Michigan approved fireworks within the existing shopping center located at 
3020 Washtenaw Ave.  

 

APPLICANT:  LynxDx, Inc. – Steven Riggs 

LOCATION: 2515 Ellsworth Rd, Ypsilanti MI 48198  

PARCEL: K-11-18-100-013 

REQUEST: To consider the request for a temporary use permit to allow for a temporary outdoor 
Covid-19 Testing Drive-Thru Clinic located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd.  

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

6. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 

a. PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT  

b. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED  

c. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEMBERS 

d. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIENCE/PUBLIC  

7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT MAY COME BEFORE THE ZONING BOARD 

8. ADJOURMENT  

 

(THERE IS NO WORK SESSION)  

If you need any assistance due to a disability please contact the Planning Department at least 
48 hours in advance of the meeting at planning@ytown.org or 734-485-3943. 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI  
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Wednesday, November 3rd, 2021 
6:30pm 

 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT 

Marsha Kraycir - Chair 
Elizabeth El-Assadi - Vice Chair  
Jimmie Wilson 
Gage Smith 
Morgan McGovern 
Edward Burnett-ALT 
 
MANAGEMENT PRESENT 

Jason Iacoangeli - Planning Director 
Amy Steffens - AICP Planning and Zoning Coordinator 
Dennis McLain - Township Attorney 

GUEST 

Angela Flood - AICP / American Center for Mobility (ACM) 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER/ESTABLISH QUORUM 

MOTION: Ms. Kraycir called the meeting to order at 6:30pm. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOTION:  Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to approve the agenda as presented. The MOTION 
was SECONDED by Mr. Wilson and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

 

III. APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 6th MEETING MINUTES 

MOTION: Mr. Wilson MOVED to approve the previous Board Meeting Minutes as 
presented. The MOTION was SECONDED by Ms. El-Assadi and PASSED by 
unanimous consent. 

IV. PUBLIC HEARING 

           APPLICANT: American Center for Mobility c/o Ms. Angela Food 

      LOCATION: 2701 Airport Drive, Ypsilanti MI 48198/ 2930 Ecorse Road, Ypsilanti MI 48198 

PARCEL: K-11-12-100-006 

REQUEST: To consider the request for an extension of a temporary use for the outdoor 
storage of vehicles on the American Center for Mobility property. 

Mr. Iacoangeli, the Township Planning Director presented the request for a six-month 
extension for a temporary use, parking permit that was applied for by the American 
Center for Mobility. The purpose is to store vehicles from the Ford Automotive Company 
that are awaiting microchips. The cars will be stored on the 30-acre portion of the ACM 
(American Center for Mobility Property). 

Mr. Iacoangeli, also stated that the Ypsilanti Township Fire Department, along with the 
Township engineer and planning staff, went and reviewed the parking on Wednesday, 
October 27th of 2021. 

The Fire Department had the following comments: 

 The lanes have to be continued to be left clear of vehicles or debris. 

 The fire hydrants to be marked with an 8-foot reflective flag so that they might be 
identified in the snow. 

 The fire department also recognized that a Knox box had been installed per the 
conditions for the first permit. The Knox box contains a master key that allows the 
fire department to open up all the gates and doors of the building door, located at 
the ACM. 

Mr. Iacoangeli mentioned that Stantec Engineering was also on site to re-inspect the 
parking lot. And, as part of the review, they found the spacing to be consistent with the 
township's parking standards. They recommended that the parking areas remain free of 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

any debris and that any material storage at the ACM should not occur in and around the 
parking lot. 

Mr. Iacoangeli also stated that ACM is a gated facility and has security on duty 24hours 
a day and has lamps and pole lights that use generators in order to supply light at night 
on the property grounds. 

Mr. Iacoangeli stated that the Planning department is recommending that the temporary 
parking be allowed for a time period not to exceed an additional 6 months from the date 
of this approval, the applicant needs to provide the Township with the removal bond in 
the amount of $500,000 as a surety bond from a state licensed insurance agency or a 
letter from the Ford Automotive Company taking responsibility for moving the vehicles, in 
occurrence of any event, for public safety reasons or if the permit expires. 

Mr. Iacoangeli, also states that ACM doesn’t really require the full 6-month extension, 
but he is pushing for the 6 months, so that to give them leverage of summer months, that 
could make things easier and also not saving the time of them coming back with another 
extension request to the zoning board. He also clarifies that ACM has adequate parking 
lot space as part of their future development plan and to help Ford Automotive Company 
for the short-term parking requirement. 

APPLICANT: Ms. Angela Food, a certified urban planner and the director of Business 

Planning and Economic development for the American Center for Mobility. She 
presented the reasons on why ACM is doing this project to support their customer, Ford 
Motor Company. Due to the worldwide chip shortage and the supply chain issues 
caused by COVID-19 pandemics, Ford needed the space to park their new Broncos, 
until the supply comes in. Ms. Food also reassures that ACM, has enough space on the 
property and it wouldn’t impact the day-to-day operations, since the parcel for the 
parking lot is separate from the testing track area. She also mentions that requesting for 
the 6-month extension, is for the purpose of not coming back to the board, and the 
anticipated time needed by Ford is for 3-4months. 

Ms. Angela Food, states that ACM is in compliance with the Fire and Planning 
Department requirements and the hydrants would be flagged and the installation of the 
Knox box. 

ACM has requested a letter from the Ford Motor Company, stating that they would take 
responsibility and removal of their vehicles once the term expires. The letter is 
anticipated to be received in the next 7 days. 

Ms. Angela Food, requests the board if they could forgo the payment of the 
$500,000bond and instead get the letter from the Ford Motor Company stating their 
responsibility of removing their vehicles at the due date. 

MOTION: Ms. McGovern MOVED to approve the request, for a temporary use for the 
outdoor storage of vehicles pursuant to Ordinance section 24043 E. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

The approval will have the following conditions: 

 The temporary use of the property for the outdoor storage of vehicles will 
not exceed 6 months from the approval date. 

 The applicant needs to provide the Township with a letter, from Ford 
Motor Company or a $500,000 removal bond as a surety from an 
insurance company licensed in the state of Michigan that meets the terms 
and conditions of the Township. 

 The letter from the Ford Motor Company, accepting their responsibility for 
the removal of cars if required for safety, during any event. The permit 
expires by November 19th, 2021. 

 All conditions of the Ypsilanti Township Fire Department will be adhered 
to, that includes the 24 feet separation area in the parking lot/ drainage 
ditch for access to fire hydrants/ Fire hydrants will have an 8-foot flag. 

 The ACM would take the responsibility to plow the snow as needed for the 
aisles in the parking area and around the fire hydrants, to keep them 
accessible for the fire department and public safety. 

 The master key for all buildings and gates will be placed in the Knox box 
within a week of this meeting (November 3, 2021). 

 Ypsilanti Township has the right to inspect the parking areas at any time 
and require vehicles to be moved for health, safety and welfare concerns. 

 All parking areas will adhere to the standards stated in the letter dated 
May 4th, 2021 from AMC. 

 No additional parking areas, to be added to the temporary parking 
arrangement without the approval from the township and the zoning board 
ordinance. 

 The ACM needs to notify the Township on a monthly basis of the number 
of cars is being parked on site and the utilization of the area. 

The MOTION was SECONDED by Ms. El-Assadi and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

 
V. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON AGENDA 

None 

 

VI. OTHER BUSINESS 

Mr. Wilson, brought to the board's attention, that they were in the process of updating 
the zoning ordinance and it can be viewed online and the Ypsilanti Township Board of 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Trustees board package was available with the updated zoning map for the township. 
This can be viewed on the township's website. 

Mr. Iacoangeli updated the board that Amy Stevens is the new planning and zoning 
coordinator and Fletcher Rare is the staff planner. 

Ms. McGovern informed the board on the legislation from Lansing with regards to Airbnb 
as part of short-term rental zoning. The decision from the senate is awaited. 

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION: Ms. Kraycir MOVED to adjourn at 7:20 pm. The MOTION was SECONDED by 
Ms. El-Assadi and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 Respectfully submitted by Minutes Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Staff Report  
Temporary Use Permit – 2243 Ellsworth Rd – K-11-18-100-003 

ZBA: March 2nd, 2022 

 
March 2, 2022 

Case: 

The applicant is requesting a temporary use permit to allow for the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks within the existing Roundtree Village Shopping Center 
parking lot from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022. 

 

Applicant:   

Mr. Richard Tapper 

Phantom Fireworks 

7376 Rafford Lane  

West Bloomfield, MI 48322 

       

Location and Summary of Request: 

The subject property is located near the intersection of Hewitt and Ellsworth and is known by the 
address of 2243 Ellsworth Road.  In his request dated January 14, 2022, the applicant has 
proposed to erect a 40’ x 40’ for the display and sale of Class ‘C’ fireworks.  In addition to the 
sales area, the applicant is proposing the utilization of an 8’ x 40’ fire proof shipping container for 
the storage of items not on display. The shipping container will also be located within the parking 
lot area. The applicant is proposing to operate at this location from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 
2022.  Actual times of operation are proposed from 10:00am to 10:00pm from June 22nd 

(Wednesday) through July 4th (Monday).  

 

Cross References: 

Township Zoning Ordinance – Section 2404.3 (Exceptions and Special Approvals) 

Township Zoning Ordinance – Article XXIV (Board of Zoning Appeals) 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Aerial Photograph(s) – 2243 Ellsworth  

**Not to scale 

 

Subject Location:  
The Roundtree Village Shopping Center is located at the corner of E. Ellsworth and S. Hewitt 
Road just north of W. Michigan Ave. and I-94.  

Subject Site Zoning:  

The parcel is currently zoned B-3, General Business. The shopping center is home to numerous 
retail businesses. 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Adjacent Uses, Zoning and Comprehensive Plan:  

Direction Use Zoning Future Land Use Designation 

North Automotive Services / 
Retail 

B-3 GB – General Business  

South Bank of America  B-3 RC – Regional Corridor  

East Residential  B-3 GB – General Business  

West Retail  B-3 GB – General Business 

Analysis:  

In January 2012, the State of Michigan enacted new legislation in relation to the sale of fireworks 
within the State of Michigan. As part of this new legislation, the local municipality no longer has 
the authority to inspect or regulate the sale of fireworks within their jurisdiction. All inspections 
shall be conducted by State inspectors. 

With that said, it is of the opinion of staff that the local jurisdiction, particularly in this case the 
ZBA, has the authority to grant a temporary use permit for the erection of a tent and the outdoor 
display and storage of good, or in this case fireworks. 

The applicant has proposed to erect a 40’ x 40’ tent in order to display and sell what is described 
as Class ‘C’ fireworks that are permitted by the State of Michigan. In addition to the tent, the 
applicant has also proposed to have an 8’ x 40’ shipping container to store good when not on 
display.  Finally, the applicant has also proposed the utilization of a portable generator to service 
his operation. 

The applicant has provided this office with a letter of authorization from the property owner in 
addition to a certificate of insurance for which I have included a copy for your review. The applicant 
states that the sales of said fireworks will take place between June 22, 2022 and July 4, 2022.  
Section 2204.3 permits the ZBA to authorize the requested permit for up to 6 months. The 
applicant will need to return to and gain authorization from the ZBA annually, should he wish to 
continue the operation in subsequent years. 

Appendix A – Zoning / Article XXIV. – Board of Zoning Appeals / Sec. 2404. – Jurisdiction:  

Exceptions and special approvals: To hear and decide in accordance with the provisions of this 
ordinance, requests for exceptions, for interpretations of the zoning map, and for decisions on 
special approval situations on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the zoning board of 
appeals to pass. Any exception or other matter on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the 
zoning board of appeals to pass shall be subject to such conditions as the zoning board of appeals 
may require in order to preserve and promote the character of the zone district in question and 
otherwise promote the purpose of this ordinance, including the following: 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Permit temporary buildings and uses for periods not to exceed two years in undeveloped sections 
of the township and for periods not to exceed six months in developed sections.  

The zoning board of appeals, in granting permits for the above temporary uses, shall do 
so under the following conditions: 

1. The granting of the temporary use shall in no way constitute a change in the basic uses 
permitted in the district nor on the property wherein the temporary use is permitted. 

a. Staff Comment: The storage and sale of fireworks does not constitute a change in 
the basic uses permitted in B-3 Zoned Districts. Retail is a principal permitted use 
in the B-3 Zone.  

2. The granting of the temporary use shall be granted in writing stipulating all conditions as 
to time, nature of development permitted and arrangements for removing the use at the 
termination of said temporary permit. 

3. All setbacks, land coverage, off-street parking, lighting and other requirements to be 
considered in protecting the public health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, convenience 
and general welfare of the inhabitants of the Township of Ypsilanti, shall be made at the 
discretion of the zoning board of appeals or township planning commission as the case 
may be. 

a. Staff Comment: The tent and storage containers meet building / fire codes. The 
Roundtree parking lot is large enough to accommodate more traffic during this 
period of time.  

4. In classifying uses as not requiring capital improvement, the zoning board of appeals shall 
determine that they are either demountable structures related to the permitted use of the 
land; recreation developments, such as, but not limited to: golf driving ranges and outdoor 
archery courts; or structures which do not require foundations, heating systems or sanitary 
connections. 

5. The use shall be in harmony with the general character of the district. 
a. Staff Comment: The use is in harmony with the permitted uses of the zoning 

district.   
6. No temporary use permit shall be granted without first giving notice to owners of adjacent 

property of the time and place of a public hearing to be held as further provided for in this 
ordinance. 

 

Suggested motions:  The following suggested motions and conditions are provided to assist 

the Zoning Board of Appeals in making a complete and appropriate motion for this application.  
The ZBA may utilize, add or reject any portion of the suggested motion or any conditions 
suggested herein, as deemed appropriate. 

Table: 

“I move to table the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 40’ 
tent and 8’ x 40’ storage container to be located within the existing Roundtree shopping center 
parking lot, 2243 Ellsworth Road, parcel K-11-18-100-003, to consider comments presented 
during this public hearing.” 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Approve: 

“I move to approve the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale 
of State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 
40’ tent and 8’ x 40’ storage container to be located within the existing Roundtree shopping center 
parking lot, 2243 Ellsworth Road, parcel K-11-18-100-003, with the following condition(s): 

 All necessary building and/or trade permits shall be obtain from the Office of Community 
Standards prior to occupancy of the tent. 

 The applicant shall post and make available to the public, Township Municipal Code 
Section 42-210 “Fireworks” outlining when fireworks may be discharged within Ypsilanti 
Township. 

Denial: 

“I move to deny the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 40’ 
tent and 8’ x 40’ storage container to be located within the existing Roundtree shopping center 
parking lot, 2243 Ellsworth Road, parcel K-11-18-100-003, due to the following reason(s): 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Fletcher Reyher 
Fletcher Reyher 

Staff Planner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

































CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
Staff Report  

Temporary Use Permit – 3020 Washtenaw Ave – K-11-06-325-031 

ZBA: March 2nd, 2022 

 
March 2, 2022 

Case: 

The applicant is requesting a temporary use permit to allow for the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022. 

 

Applicant:   

Mr. Richard Tapper 

Phantom Fireworks 

7376 Rafford Lane  

West Bloomfield, MI 48322 

 

Location and Summary of Request: 

The subject property is located near the intersection of Golfside and Washtenaw Avenue and is 
known by the address of 3020 Washtenaw Avenue. In his request dated January 14, 2022, the 
applicant has proposed to erect a 40’ x 40’ for the display and sale of Class ‘C’ fireworks.  In 
addition to the sales area, the applicant is proposing the utilization of an 8’ x 40’ fire proof shipping 
container for the storage of items not on display.  This shipping container will also be located 
within the parking lot area. The applicant is proposing to operate at this location from June 22, 
2022 through July 4, 2022.  Actual times of operation are proposed from 10:00am to 10:00pm 
from June 22th (Wednesday) through July 4th (Monday). 

 

Cross References:  

Township Zoning Ordinance – Section 2404.3 (exceptions and special approvals) 

Township Zoning Ordinance – Article XXIV (Board of Zoning Appeals) 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Aerial Photograph(s) – 3020 Washtenaw  

**Not to scale 

 

Subject Location:  

The shopping center is located at the corner Washtenaw Ave. and Golfside Rd.  

 

Subject Site Zoning:  

The parcel is currently zoned B-3, General Business. The shopping center is home to Crunch 
Fitness, At Home Goods Store, Washtenaw Auto Care Center, and Victory Lane Quick Oil 
Change.  

 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Adjacent Uses, Zoning and Comprehensive Plan:  

Direction Use Zoning Future Land Use Designation 

North Residential  RM-2 RM-LD 

South Commercial B-3 RC – Regional Corridor  

East Commercial B-3 RC – Regional Corridor 

West Automotive  B-3 RC – Regional Corridor 

 

Analysis: 

In January 2012, the State of Michigan enacted new legislation in relation to the sale of fireworks 
within the State of Michigan.  As part of this new legislation, the local municipality no longer has 
the authority to inspect or regulate the sale of fireworks within their jurisdiction.  All inspections 
shall be conducted by State inspectors. 

With that said, it is of the opinion of staff that the local jurisdiction, particularly in this case the 
ZBA, has the authority to grant a temporary use permit for the erection of a tent and the outdoor 
display and storage of good, or in this case fireworks. 

The applicant has proposed to erect a 40’ x 40’ tent in order to display and sell what is described 
as Class ‘C’ fireworks that are permitted by the State of Michigan.  In addition to the tent, the 
applicant has also proposed to have an 8’ x 40’ fire proof shipping container to store good when 
not on display.  Finally, the applicant has also proposed the utilization of a portable generator to 
service his operation. The applicant has provided this office with a letter of authorization from the 
property owner in addition to a certificate of insurance for which I have included a copy for your 
review 

The applicant states that the sales of said fireworks will take place between June 22, 2022 and 
July 4, 2022.  Section 2204.3 permits the ZBA to authorize the requested permit for up to 6 
months.  The applicant will need to return to and gain authorization from the ZBA annually, should 
he wish to continue the operation in subsequent years. 

Appendix A – Zoning / Article XXIV. – Board of Zoning Appeals / Sec. 2404. – Jurisdiction:  

Exceptions and special approvals: To hear and decide in accordance with the provisions of this 
ordinance, requests for exceptions, for interpretations of the zoning map, and for decisions on 
special approval situations on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the zoning board of 
appeals to pass. Any exception or other matter on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the 
zoning board of appeals to pass shall be subject to such conditions as the zoning board of appeals 
may require in order to preserve and promote the character of the zone district in question and 
otherwise promote the purpose of this ordinance, including the following: 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

Permit temporary buildings and uses for periods not to exceed two years in undeveloped sections 
of the township and for periods not to exceed six months in developed sections.  

The zoning board of appeals, in granting permits for the above temporary uses, shall do 
so under the following conditions: 

 

7. The granting of the temporary use shall in no way constitute a change in the basic uses 
permitted in the district nor on the property wherein the temporary use is permitted. 

a. Staff Comment: The storage and sale of fireworks does not constitute a change in 
the uses permitted in B-3 Zoned Districts. Retail is a principal permitted use in the 
B-3 Zone.  

8. The granting of the temporary use shall be granted in writing stipulating all conditions as 
to time, nature of development permitted and arrangements for removing the use at the 
termination of said temporary permit. 

9. All setbacks, land coverage, off-street parking, lighting and other requirements to be 
considered in protecting the public health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, convenience 
and general welfare of the inhabitants of the Township of Ypsilanti, shall be made at the 
discretion of the zoning board of appeals or township planning commission as the case 
may be. 

a. Staff Comment: The tent and storage containers meet building / fire codes. The 
Crunch Fitness parking lot is large enough to accommodate more traffic during this 
period of time. There is a shared parking agreement between the retail stores in 
this shopping center. There is adequate parking to not prevent patrons from 
parking.  

10. In classifying uses as not requiring capital improvement, the zoning board of appeals shall 
determine that they are either demountable structures related to the permitted use of the 
land; recreation developments, such as, but not limited to: golf driving ranges and outdoor 
archery courts; or structures which do not require foundations, heating systems or sanitary 
connections. 

11. The use shall be in harmony with the general character of the district. 
a. Staff Comment: The use is in harmony with the permitted uses of the zoning 

district.   
12. No temporary use permit shall be granted without first giving notice to owners of adjacent 

property of the time and place of a public hearing to be held as further provided for in this 
ordinance. 
 

Recommended Motions: 

Table: 

“I move to table the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 40’ 
tent and 8 ‘x 40 storage container to be located within the existing Victory Lane Oil Change parking 
lot, 3020 Washtenaw Avenue, parcel K-11-06-325-031, to consider comments presented during 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

this public hearing.” 

Approve: 

“I move to approve the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale 
of State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 
40’ tent and 8 ‘x 40 storage container to be located within the former Farmer Jacks parking lot 
located at 3020 Washtenaw Avenue, parcel K-11-06-325-031, with the following condition(s): 

 All necessary building and/or trade permits shall be obtain from the Office of Community 
Standards prior to occupancy of the tent. 

 The applicant shall post and make available to the public, Township Municipal Code 
Section 42-210 “Fireworks” outlining when fireworks may be discharged within Ypsilanti 
Township. 

Denial: 

“I move to deny the temporary use permit application to permit the storage, display and sale of 
State of Michigan approved fireworks from June 22, 2022 through July 4, 2022 within a 40’ x 40’ 
tent and 8 ‘x 40 storage container to be located within the existing Victory Lane Oil Change parking 
lot, 3020 Washtenaw Avenue, parcel K-11-06-325-031, due to the following reason(s): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Fletcher Reyher 
Fletcher Reyher 

Staff Planner 

 































CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
Staff Report  

Temporary Use Permit – 2515 Ellsworth Rd – K-11-18-100-013 

ZBA: March 2nd, 2022 

 

March 2, 2022 
Case: 

The applicant is requesting a temporary use permit to allow for the operation of a COVID-19 
Testing Drive-Thru located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd for a period of six (6) months.  

 

Applicant:   

Steven Riggs 

LynxDx, Inc.  

333 Jackson Plaza 

Ann Arbor MI, 48103  

Location and Summary of Request: 

The subject property is located near the intersection of South Hewitt Rd and Ellsworth Rd and is 
known by the address of 2515 Ellsworth Rd. In the request dated January 28, 2022, the applicant 
stated that the facility is a 40’ x 8’ x 9.6’ shipping container/mobile office with an interior restroom. 
The facility is covered by a 12’ x 25’ fire resistant commercial-grade containment tent. The testing 
facility is powered by a 36k diesel generator with fuel supplied by a 500 gallon double-wall fuel 
tank. This generator and fuel tank is lined and surrounded by a commercial-grade containment 
berm. Hours of operation will be seven (7) days a week, 9am to 5pm. There are six (6) to eight 
(8) staff members at the facility at any given time. The applicant has estimated that 200-400 
people visit the site per day. An online scheduling system is used to prevent traffic congestion 
around the facility.  

Cross References:  

Township Zoning Ordinance – Section 2404.3 (exceptions and special approvals) 

Township Zoning Ordinance – Article XXIV (Board of Zoning Appeals) 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Aerial Photograph(s) – 2515 Ellsworth Rd.  

**Not to scale 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

Subject Location:  

The shopping center is located near the corner of South Hewitt Rd. and Ellsworth Rd. in the 
parking lot of the former Walmart.  

Subject Site Zoning:  

The parcel is currently zoned B-3, General Business. The shopping center is currently vacant, but 
it is adjacent to the Roundtree Place Shopping Center which is home to multiple retail businesses.  

Adjacent Uses, Zoning and Comprehensive Plan:  

Direction Use Zoning Future Land Use Designation 

North Commercial  B-3 GB – General Business  

South Undeveloped RM-3 RC – Regional Corridor  

East Undeveloped  RM-3 RM-MD  

West Commercial B-3 GB – General Business 

Analysis: 

On January 30th, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global 
health emergency. On March 11th, 2020, COVID-19 was formally declared a global pandemic. 
Since then, countries around the world have instituted lockdowns, mask mandates, and testing 
requirements for residents based on infection levels. Since the start of the pandemic, new 
technologies have been invented to slow the spread of the virus such as vaccines and tests. 
These technologies have been rolled out on a global scale with companies such as LynxDx, Inc. 
using their knowledge and resources to provide COVID-19 tests to residents around Washtenaw 
County.  

With that said, it is the opinion of the staff that the local jurisdiction, particularly in this case the 
ZBA, has the authority to grant a temporary use permit for the erection of a tent, shipping 
container, and related facilities to LynxDx (a medical diagnostic company) to operate an outdoor 
COVID-19 Drive-Thru Testing Facility for a period of six (6) months located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd. 

The applicant has proposed to erect a 40’ x 8’ x 9.6’ shipping container/mobile office with an 
interior restroom. The facility is covered by a 12’ x 25’ fire resistant commercial-grade containment 
tent. The testing facility is powered by a 36k diesel generator with fuel supplied by a 500 gallon 
double-wall fuel tank. This generator and fuel tank is lined and surrounded by a commercial-grade 
containment berm. Hours of operation will be seven (7) days a week, 9am to 5pm. There are six 
(6) to eight (8) staff members at the facility at any given time. The applicant has estimated that 
200-400 people visit the site per day. An online scheduling system is used to prevent traffic 
congestion around the facility.  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

The applicant has provided this office with a letter of authorization from the property owner in 
addition to a certificate of insurance for which I have a copy for your review.  

Please note that this facility is currently in operation. On Wednesday January 5, 2022, the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti Planning Department became aware of the Covid-19 testing site 
through local newspaper articles, but there was no formal notification to the Township. The 
Township has agreed to allow for LynxDx to formalize the process and submit all required 
materials to seek temporary use approval from the ZBA. On January 28th 2022, the Township 
received an application by LynxDX and scheduled a formal ZBA meeting for March 2nd 2022.  

Appendix A – Zoning / Article XXIV. – Board of Zoning Appeals / Sec. 2404. – Jurisdiction:  

Exceptions and special approvals: To hear and decide in accordance with the provisions of this 
ordinance, requests for exceptions, for interpretations of the zoning map, and for decisions on 
special approval situations on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the zoning board of 
appeals to pass. Any exception or other matter on which this ordinance specifically authorizes the 
zoning board of appeals to pass shall be subject to such conditions as the zoning board of appeals 
may require in order to preserve and promote the character of the zone district in question and 
otherwise promote the purpose of this ordinance, including the following: 

Permit temporary buildings and uses for periods not to exceed two years in undeveloped sections 
of the township and for periods not to exceed six months in developed sections.  

The zoning board of appeals, in granting permits for the above temporary uses, shall do 
so under the following conditions: 

13. The granting of the temporary use shall in no way constitute a change in the basic 
uses permitted in the district nor on the property wherein the temporary use is 
permitted. 

a. Staff Comment: The COVID-19 Drive-Thru Testing Facility does not 
constitute a change in the basic uses permitted in B-3 Zoned Districts. 
Medical clinics, offices, and urgent care facilities are permitted in the B-3 
Zone.  

14. The granting of the temporary use shall be granted in writing stipulating all 
conditions as to time, nature of development permitted and arrangements for 
removing the use at the termination of said temporary permit. 

15. All setbacks, land coverage, off-street parking, lighting and other requirements to 
be considered in protecting the public health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, 
convenience and general welfare of the inhabitants of the Township of Ypsilanti, 
shall be made at the discretion of the zoning board of appeals or township planning 
commission as the case may be. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

a. Staff Comment: Scheduling software for testing is being used to limit traffic 
congestion around the testing facility. The property is currently vacant which 
limits conflict with this service and abutting businesses.  

16. In classifying uses as not requiring capital improvement, the zoning board of 
appeals shall determine that they are either demountable structures related to the 
permitted use of the land; recreation developments, such as, but not limited to: golf 
driving ranges and outdoor archery courts; or structures which do not require 
foundations, heating systems or sanitary connections. 

17. The use shall be in harmony with the general character of the district. 
a. Staff Comment: The use is in harmony with the permitted uses of the zoning 

district. The property this testing site is located on is currently vacant.  
18. No temporary use permit shall be granted without first giving notice to owners of 

adjacent property of the time and place of a public hearing to be held as further 
provided for in this ordinance. 

Recommended Motions: 

Table: 

“I move to table the temporary use permit application to permit the operation of a COVID-19 Drive-
Thru Testing Facility located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd, parcel K-11-18-100-013 for a period of six (6) 
months to consider comments presented during this public hearing.”  

Approve: 

“I move to approve the temporary use permit application to permit the operation of a COVID-19 
Drive-Thru Testing Facility located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd, parcel K-11-18-100-013 for a period of 
six (6) months, with the following condition(s):”  

 All necessary building and/or trade permits shall be obtain from the Office of 
Community Standards.  

Denial: 

“I move to deny the temporary use permit application to permit the operation of a COVID-19 Drive-
Thru Testing Facility located at 2515 Ellsworth Rd, parcel K-11-18-100-013 for a period of six (6) 
months due to the following reason(s):”  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Fletcher Reyher 
Fletcher Reyher 

Staff Planner 

 


















	March 2, 2022
	Subject Location:
	March 2, 2022
	March 2, 2022

	Insert from: "Combine.pdf"
	2243 Ellsworth
	3020 Washtenaw
	2525 Ellsworth ZBA application materials


